IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

In the Matter of the Estate of ) Case No: 63960  
LEROY G. BLACK, Deceased. )  
)  
)

APPEAL

Electronically Filed  
Dec 16 2014 09:20 a.m.  
Tracie K. Lindeman  
Clerk of Supreme Court

from the Eighth Judicial District, Clark County  
The Honorable GLORIA J. STURMAN, District Judge  
District Court Case No. P-12-074745-E

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

MICHAEL A. OLSEN  
Nevada Bar No. 6076  
THOMAS R. GROVER  
Nevada Bar No. 12387  
GOODSELL & OLSEN, LLP  
10155 West Twain, Suite 100  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89147  
(702) 869-6261

*Attorneys for Appellant William Fink*

##

## JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The "*Order Granting Objection to Report and Recommendation*," (hereafter "August 2013 Order") which resolved all the claims of the parties regarding Appellant's will contest, was entered on August 1, 2013 (FINK000162-166), and written notice was served on August 2, 2013 (FINK000160-165). Appellant, William Fink (hereinafter "Appellant" or "Fink") filed his "*Contestant's Notice of Appeal*" on August 29, 2013 which was within 30 days from entry of the August 2013 Order and timely under NRAP 4(a)(1).

The basis for this Court's jurisdiction as to the August 2013 Order is set forth in several sections of NRS 155.190 as well as NRAP 3A.

Jurisdiction is proper pursuant to NRS 155.190 because the August 2013 Order, by denying the will contest: (1) makes a final determination as to "heirship or the persons to whom distribution must be made or trust property must pass" *See* NRS 155.190(1)(k); (2) makes a "decision wherein the amount in controversy equals or exceeds, exclusive of costs, \$10,000" *See* NRS 155.190(1)(n); and (3) "Refus[es] to make any order mentioned in this section" *See* NRS 155.190(1)(m) *cf.* NRS 155.190(1)(a)(An order which refuses to "Grant[] or revok[e] letters testamentary or letters of administration.") and finally NRS

1 155.190(1)(b)(An order which "Admit[s] a will to probate or revok[es]  
2 the probate thereof.").

3  
4 Jurisdiction is proper under NRAP 3A(b)(1) because, by denying  
5 Fink a will contest, the August 2013 Order makes a final determination  
6 as to the Estate (although not as to the Trust, which is an entirely  
7 separate legal entity).

8  
9 **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

10 **ISSUES PRESENTED**

11 The principal issue presented in this appeal is whether the  
12 District Court erred in dismissing the Appellant's will contest based  
13 upon the timing of the issuance of the citations under NRS 137.090.

14  
15 More specifically, the issues presented on appeal are as follows:

- 16 1. Whether the untimely issuance of citations under NRS  
17 137.090 is a time bar to a will contest.
- 18 2. Whether, pursuant to NRS 155.180 and/or EDCR 2.25, the  
19 time to issue citations in NRS 137.090 may be enlarged (at  
20 the Court's discretion) pursuant to NRCP 6(b).
- 21 3. Whether refusing to grant a will contest for untimely  
22 citations is in contravention of this Court's longstanding  
23 policy to adjudicate disputes on their merits.  
24  
25  
26

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an Order Granting Objection to Report and Recommendation (i.e., the "August 2013 Order"), in the Eighth Judicial District Court, THE HONORABLE GLORIA J. STURMAN, District Judge. FINK000156-9.

The central question of this appeal is whether the District Court erred in denying Appellant a will contest for untimely issuing citations under NRS 137.090 even though the petition to initiate the will contest under NRS 137.080 was timely issued.

Leroy G. Black (hereinafter "Black") died on or about April 4, 2012. FINK000016. On July 18, 2012, the Respondent, Phil Markowitz (hereinafter "Respondent" or "Phil"), filed a petition for the probate of a will and for the appointment of a personal representative (the "Probate Petition"). FINK000025-33. An order granting the Probate Petition was entered on August 31, 2012. FINK000039-40.

On November 27, 2012, Appellant , through Douglas Gardner, Esq., his attorney at the time, filed his Objection to the Admission of the Last Will and Testament of LeRoy G. Black, for the Revocation of Letters Testamentary and for Appointment of Special Administrator Pending Conclusion of Will Contest FINK000046-FINK000056 (hereinafter the "Will Contest") However, Gardner was mistaken in his



1 reading of NRS 137.090, the statute governing citations, which caused  
2 him to fail to timely issue citations. FINK000074. Upon discovery of the  
3 mistake, citations were issued immediately on January 7, 2013.  
4  
5 FINK000063; FINK000074-75.

6 The Appellant then filed a "Petition to Enlarge Time Pursuant to  
7 NRCP 6(b)" (hereafter "Petition to Enlarge") seeking leave of the Court  
8 to enlarge time to issue the citations under NRCP 6(b). FINK000066-  
9  
10 75. On February 8, 2013, Probate Commissioner Wesley Yamashita  
11 recommended granting Appellant's Petition to Enlarge, finding: (1) that  
12 the Appellant "timely objected to the validity of the will"  
13 FINK000126:27-8; (2) excusable neglect, FINK000127:5; (3) that the  
14 Appellant "acted in good faith" FINK000127:11; (4) that the Appellant  
15 "exercised due diligence," FINK000127:20; (5) that the Respondent  
16 would "suffer no prejudice" from enlarging time, FINK000128:5; and  
17 (6) that enlargement was consistent with deciding matters on the  
18 merits, FINK000128:13-14.  
19  
20

21 Respondent objected to Commissioner Yamashita's Report and  
22 Recommendation. FINK000140-45. Judge Sturman granted the  
23 Respondent's objection in the form of the August 2013 Order, finding  
24 that, pursuant to NRS 137.090, "Fink is time-barred by the statute of  
25 limitations to pursue a will contest of the March 7, 2012, will..." ("Order  
26

1 Granting Objection to Report and Recommendation, August 1, 2013,"  
2  
3 hereafter "August 2013 Order," FINK000158:21-22). Appellant Fink  
4 now appeals the August 2013 Order.  
5  
6  
7  
8  
9  
10  
11  
12  
13  
14  
15  
16  
17  
18  
19  
20  
21  
22  
23  
24  
25  
26

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Black died on or about April 4, 2012 of a self-inflicted gunshot wound to the head. FINK000016. Respondent) filed his Probate Petition to probate the a will dated March 7, 2012 (hereafter the "March 2012 Will", FINK000007) and for the appointment of a personal representative. FINK000025. The March 2012 Will was purportedly executed just three weeks prior to Black's suicide under extremely suspect circumstances, as described in more detail below.

FINK000149:7.

The March 2012 Will purports to give 75% of Black's estate to Phil and 25% to Rose E. Markowitz (hereafter "Rose"), Phil's mother.

FINK000007. The March 2012 Will is not notarized, and, strangely, was purportedly executed in Las Vegas, Nevada, where Black resided, but was purportedly witnessed by David Everston of Studio City, California and Maria Onofre of Woodland Hills, California.

FINK000011 To date, Phil has never explained how the March 2012 Will came into existence.

### **I. Phil is Appointed Personal Representative and the March 2012 Will is Admitted to Probate**

Phil was appointed Special Administrator of the Estate on June 29, 2012. FINK000021-2. Later, on July 18, 2012, Phil filed the Probate

1 Petition. FINK000025-34. The District Court admitted the March 2012  
2 Will to probate and appointed Phil as Personal Representative of the  
3 Estate on August 31, 2012. FINK000039-40. Letters Testamentary  
4 were issued to Phil on September 13, 2012. FINK000045.

## 6 **II. Fink timely files his Will Contest**

7 On November 27, 2012, Fink met with his attorney at the time,  
8 Douglas J. Gardner, Esq. (hereafter "Gardner") and Gardner's  
9 paralegal, Tassy Wolfe (hereafter "Wolfe"), to discuss the possibility of  
10 objecting to the admission of the March 2012 Will to probate.  
11 FINK000073:26-27. Gardner informed Fink that an objection to the  
12 admission of the March 2012 Will had to be filed by November 30, 2012.  
13 FINK000074:1-3. Later the same day, Fink contacted Gardner and  
14 instructed him to file the Will Contest. FINK000074:6-7.

15 That same day, November 27, 2012, Appellant filed the Will  
16 Contest alleging, "that the [March 2012 Will] was obtained through  
17 fraud and undue influence as will be proved at the time of the trial of  
18 this matter." FINK000046:27-28; FINK000074:8-11. A Notice of  
19 Hearing was filed and mailed to all interested parties, including Phil.  
20 FINK000049-56.

21 In his Will Contest, Fink also maintained that Black "lacked the  
22 requisite testamentary capacity at the time it is alleged that [the March  
23  
24  
25  
26

2012 Will] was executed." FINK000047:1-2. The period of time to contest the will expired three days later on November 30, 2012.

FINK000067:8-9. Thus, Fink timely filed his Will Contest, a fact that is not in dispute in this matter.

Additionally, Fink sought to remove Phil as Personal Representative because:

Phillip I. Markowitz has filed a false and fraudulent insurance claim for personal property removed from decedent's residence at 1600 Becke Circle, Las Vegas, NV. Said property is owned by the LeRoy G. Black 1992 Living Trust of which Contestant is the beneficiary and trustee. Said property is not subject to this probate. Mr. Markowitz has no authority whatsoever to file any claim on behalf of the trust.

In his Will Contest, Fink also requested appointment of Barbara Stewart as Special Administrator of the Estate. FINK000047. The Will Contest also declared that Fink was "in the process of issuing a Citation to all heirs of the decedent pursuant to the provisions of NRS 137.090." FINK000048:1-2.

### III. Suspicious Circumstances Under Which the March 2012 Will Was Purportedly Executed

The above referenced property (1600 Becke Circle) was owned by the Leroy G. Black 1992 Living Trust (hereafter "Black Trust" or "Trust") created on August 21, 1992 by Black and restated by Black on October 27, 2009. FINK000066:23-28. As a part of the estate planning

1 associated with the Black Trust, a pour over will was executed. Fink is  
2 the beneficiary and trustee of the Black Trust. FINK000047:9-10. The  
3 March 2012 Will submitted for probate by Phil did not reference or  
4 specifically revoke his prior executed pour over will or the Black Trust.  
5 FINK000007.

6  
7 In addition to the insurance claims improperly asserted by Phil as  
8 representative of the estate (referenced above), Phil also contacted the  
9 lessees of commercial property owned by the Trust and demanded that  
10 rent payments be made and delivered directly to him. FINK000047:14-  
11 20. These facts strongly suggest that the March 2012 Will is a forgery  
12 perpetrated by someone completely unfamiliar with Black and/or his  
13 estate planning as these particular pieces of property were Trust, not  
14 Estate, assets. FINK000047:3-13.

15  
16 In support of the Petition to Enlarge, Fink provided the District  
17 Court an expert report from handwriting expert Antonia Kledkoda-  
18 Baker C.F.D.E. FINK000101-16. Upon examining the March 2012 Will  
19 and known examples of Black's signature, Ms. Kledkoda-Baker  
20 concluded that, "Leroy G. Black did not perform his own Signature on  
21 the document identified as the Last Will of Leroy G. Black."  
22 FINK000103. The expert opinion that the March 2012 Will is a forgery  
23 is consistent with the fact that the author of the March 2012 Will was  
24  
25  
26

1 completely unfamiliar with the estate planning that Black had  
2 previously put in place.

3  
4 To this day, Phil has never explained who drafted the March  
5 2012 Will or how it came into being.

#### 6 IV. Phil's Opposition to Fink's Will Contest

7  
8 On January 3, 2013, Phil filed an Opposition to Fink's Will  
9 Contest. FINK000057-62. Phil argued that because Fink had not issued  
10 Citations within three months of the admission of the March 2012 Will  
11 to probate, that Fink had not timely objected to the March 2012 Will,  
12 even though Fink filed his Objection to the March 2012 Will on  
13 November 27, 2012. "Markowitz requests that the Court dismiss Fink's  
14 Objection and the purported will contest because of Fink's failure to  
15 comply with the strict statutory requirements of NRS 137.080 and  
16 137.090." FINK000058:21-22.

#### 17 V. Fink Issues the Citations

18  
19 Phil's counsel called Fink's new counsel, Richard Koch, and  
20 informed him "of the failure to issue the Citation[s] timely."  
21 FINK000075:3-4. Wolfe, who works as an independent paralegal for  
22 both Gardner and Koch, was instructed to immediately issue the  
23 Citations, which Wolfe did the next day. FINK000075:4-8. Fink issued  
24 a "Citation to Plea to Contest" to Phil on January 7, 2013. FINK000063.  
25  
26

On November 27, 2012 when Fink's counsel filed the objection to the March 2012 Will, they believed that only the petition had to be filed within the 3 month period to initiate a will contest:

Based upon [Fink's counsel's] inexperience, they did not notice NRS 137.090 which requires the Citation to be issued at the same time as the contest is filed. Based upon their prior experience, they proceeded as in a contest before probate and did not issue the Citation before the end of the three-month contest period.

Gardner's paralegal testified that she and Gardner, "had never been involved in an after-probate will contest but had worked together on several before-probate will contests." FINK000074:13-15. "After reading NRS 137.100 where, we believed, it stated that all proceedings in an after-probate contest were to be handled in the same manner as in a before-probate contest, we anticipated issuing the Citation in the same manner involved in other actions in which we had been involved." FINK000074:13-25.

**VI. Pursuant to NRCP 6(b) Fink's Petition to Enlarge Time to Issue the Citation is Granted by the Discovery Commissioner But Later Overturned by the Probate Judge**

Fink filed a Petition to Enlarge Time Pursuant to NRCP 6(b) (hereafter "Petition to Enlarge") on January 23, 2013. NRCP 6(b) provides that the District Court, "for cause shown may at any time in its discretion...upon motion made after the expiration of the specified period permit the act to be done where the failure to act was the result



1 of excusable neglect." Commissioner Yamashita granted Fink's Petition  
2 to Enlarge time but his recommendation was later overturned by Judge  
3 Sturman. In opposition to Fink's Petition to Enlarge Time, Phil argued  
4 that, "NRCP 6(b) does not apply and cannot be applied to enlarge the  
5 statute of limitations set forth in NRS 137.080-090. The plain language  
6 of NRCP 6(b) makes clear that the ability to enlarge time under Rule 6  
7 applies only to an act required by the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure,  
8 not to acts required by the Nevada Revised Statutes." FINK000079:17-  
9 21. The District Court was persuaded by this argument, and, as noted  
10 below, this argument is a mis-statement of the law.

11 The Petition to Enlarge time was heard before Probate  
12 Commissioner on February 8, 2013. Commissioner Yamashita found  
13 that:

14 The period of limitation described in NRS 137.120 is only  
15 applicable to the filing of the will contest, and not to the issuance  
16 of the citation. NRS 137.120 provides as follows:

17 If no person *contests the validity of a will or of the probate*  
18 *thereof* within the time specified in NRS 137.080, the probate  
19 of the will is conclusive.

20 (Emphasis added.) The issuance of citations is handled in a  
21 separate statute, i.e., NRS 137.090. The period of limitation is  
22 only in reference to the filing of the will contest which is described  
23 in NRS 137.080 as follows:

24 After a will has been admitted to probate, any interested  
25 person ... at any time within 3 months after the order is  
26

entered admitting the will to probate, contest the admission or the validity of the will. The contestant must file with the court in which the will was proved a petition containing the allegations of the contestant against the validity of the will or against the sufficiency of the proof, and requesting that the probate be revoked.

(Emphasis added.) While the issuance of citations is not subject to the period of limitation of NRS137.120, NRS 137.090 requires the issuance of citations within three months of the admission of the will to probate. However, the extension of the time for the issuance of citations under NRS 137.090 may be extended based on the Court's discretion under NRCP 6(b) and EDCR 2.25.

There is no Nevada case law on point for this issue. Nevada courts have often looked to California case law where the statutes at issue are similar to those in Nevada. *See e.g., John v. Douglas County School Dist.*, 125 Nev . 746, 756, 219 P.3d 1276, 1283 (2009) ("we consider California case law because California's ... statute is similar in purpose and language to Nevada's ...statute.") With regard to will contests and the issuance of citations, California courts have provided as follows:

The jurisdiction of the court to entertain a proceeding for the revocation of the will does not depend upon the issuance and service of a citation within a year after the probate of the will. Jurisdiction of the court attaches on the filing of the petition inaugurating the contest. The office of the citation is only that of a summons-to give the court jurisdiction of the parties who would be affected by its revocation. *It is not essential to the jurisdiction of the court that the citation be issued and served within a year.* The only penalty for failure to have it issued within that time is that the court may dismiss the contest. *And even where there has been a failure to have it issued within the year the court may nevertheless relieve a contestant for his failure to do so and thereupon order a citation issued and served.*

*In re Logan's Estate*, 171 Cal. 357, 362-63, 153 P. 388, 390 (1915) (emphasis added). *See also In re Simmons' Estate*, 168 Cal. 390, 395, 143 P. 697 (1914) ("we think it must be held that the court

has power ... to relieve a contestant, whose petition for revocation, duly filed, has not been dismissed, from the failure to have citation issued and served within the year."); *In re Withenbury's Estate*, 188 Cal. 109, 110-11, 204 P. 385, 385 (1922) ("The issuance of the citation is not jurisdictional, and the trial court had the power to relieve the petitioner from the failure to issue such citation within a year ... ") The statute at issue in these cases is substantially similar to, and in certain respects identical to NRS 137 .080 in both purpose and language. The Court finds that the California cases are persuasive of the issue of whether the three month requirement of the issuance of citations is mandatory or permissive. Accordingly, the Court finds that the three month period for issuance of the citations is not mandatory and may be extended in the Court's discretion and pursuant to NRCP 6 and EDCR 2.25.

FINK000134:16-135:26. The Commissioner went on to find "excusable neglect" within the meaning of EDCR 2.25, NRCP 6(b) and *Moseley v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court ex rel. County of Clark*, 124 Nev. 654, 557-68, 188 P.3d 1136, 1146 (2008), finding that Fink, "acted in good faith, exercised due diligence, had a reasonable basis for not complying with the specified time, and that the non-moving party will not suffer prejudice." FINK000136:8-10. Ultimately, the Commissioner recommended "that Contestant's Petition to Enlarge Time Pursuant to NRCP 6(b) be granted." FINK000138:5-6.

Phil objected to the Commissioners Report and Recommendation, incorrectly arguing that, "despite the fact that NRS 137.090 clearly states that the action of issuing a citation 'must' be accomplished within

1 the three month period set forth in NRS 137.080, Commissioner  
2 Yamashita recommends that the mandatory language in NRS 137.090  
3 should be read as permissive language." FINK000141:4-8. Phil also  
4 incorrectly maintained that, "NRCP 6(b) is not applicable to statutes of  
5 limitation set forth in the Nevada Revised Statutes;" FINK000144:7-8.  
6

7 The District Court heard Phil's Objection on July 9, 2013.

8 FINK000156. The District Court granted the Objection, rejecting  
9 Commissioner Yamashita's recommendation, and held that,  
10

11 Because Fink failed to cause a citation to be issued within three  
12 months of August 31, 2012, Fink is time-barred by the statute of  
13 limitations to pursue a will contest of the March 7, 2012, will.  
14 Pursuant to NRS 137.120, the probate of Decedent's March 7,  
15 2012 will is conclusive.

16 FINK000158:16-20. Additionally, the District Court held, as a matter  
17 of law, that, "Rule 6 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure is not  
18 applicable to enlarge the time to issue the citation required by NRS  
19 137.090." FINK000158:25-26. Furthermore, "Fink's purported will  
20 contest of the admission of Decedent's March 7, 2012 will to probate is  
21 time-barred by his failure to comply with the requirements of  
22 NRS 137.090 and is, therefore, dismissed. The probate of Decedent's  
23 March 7, 2012 will is conclusive." FINK000159:7-9. Emphasis added.  
24

25 At the hearing, in denying the Petition to Extend, and rejecting  
26 Commissioner Yamashita's recommendation, the District Court

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