1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 CLEAR COUNSEL LAW GROUP 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

In the Matter of the Estate of LEROY G. BLACK, Deceased.

WILLIAM FINK, A/K/A BILL FINK, Appellant

VS.

PHILLIP MARKOWITZ AS EXECUTOR OF THE ESTATE OF LEROY G. BLACK, Respondent.

Electronically Filed Feb 17 2015 04:32 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court Case No. 63960

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District, Clark County, The Honorable Gloria J. Sturman, District Judge, District Court Case No. P-12-074745-E

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In this appeal, the Court is required to interpret the after-probate will contest statutes (NRS 137.080-.120) as a matter of first impression to determine whether the failure to issue a citation within three months after the entry of the order admitting a will to probate acts as a jurisdictional bar to proceeding with a will contest. Because the Nevada Legislature created the right to a will contest, a contestant is required to comply strictly with the statutory requirements to exercise that right. The plain and unambiguous meaning of the after-probate will contest statutes requires that a will contestant must both file a petition contesting the validity of the will and must issue a citation in order to contest a will. The plain language of the statutes requires that both acts must be done within three months of the entry of the order admitting the will to probate.

Fink urges an interpretation of the statutes that renders NRS 137.090

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

superfluous because failure to comply with the citation requirement would have no effect. Such an interpretation leads to the absurd result that the time limit in NRS 137.080 is material and mandatory, while the same time limit in NRS 137.090 is immaterial and permissive. The time limit in NRS 137.090 is clearly mandatory because it complies with the stated legislative priority of construing the probate statutes so that estates are settled in a speedy manner. Furthermore, the Legislature mandated the time limit set forth in NRS 137.090 because the citation is material to a will contest as it confers personal jurisdiction over the parties to the will contest. As such, failure to comply with the citation requirement deprives the district court of jurisdiction over the will contest and the will contest must be dismissed.

Despite Fink's attempt to shoehorn NRCP 6(b) into NRS 137.090, it is uniformly held across the country, and a plain language interpretation of NRCP 6(b) requires, that Rule 6(b) does not expand statutory time limits. Though the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure do apply to probate matters, this merely means that procedural matters affected by the rules of civil procedure are subject to the rules of civil procedure, not that statutory probate time limits are open to enlargement under NRCP 6(b). To hold otherwise would lead to the absurd result that all statutory time limits of every kind are subject to enlargement under Rule 6(b). In any event, Fink has failed to show excusable neglect to justify relief under

NRCP 6(b).

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

Finally, the legislative priority of speedy settlement of estates must be given effect over the vague public policy of hearing matters on their merits.

Because it is undisputed that Fink failed to comply with NRS 137.090 within three months of the entry of the District Court Order admitting the decedent's will to probate, this Court must affirm the District Court order dismissing Fink's will contest.

ARGUMENT

- I. FINK FAILED TO CONTEST THE VALIDITY OF THE ADMITTED WILL BECAUSE HE FAILED TO BOTH FILE A PETITION AND ISSUE A CITATION WITHIN THREE MONTHS OF THE WILL BEING ADMITTED TO PROBATE.
 - The Right to a Will Contest is Statutory and Requires Strict A. Compliance with the Statute in Order to Vest Jurisdiction in the District Court.

The right to a will contest in Nevada was created by the Legislature, as provided in NRS 137.080:

> After a will has been admitted to probate, any interested person ... may, at any time within 3 months after the order is entered admitting the will to probate, contest the admission or the validity of the will.

Courts across the country have also stated that the right to contest a will is statutory and that the right did not exist at common law. Ex parte Floyd, 105 So.3d 1193, 1197 (Ala. 2012); In re Estate of Kordon, 137 P.3d 16, 18 (Wash.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

2006); Smith v. Estate of Mitchell, 841 N.E.2d 215, 218 (Ind. App. 2006); Langham v. Mann, 801 S.W.2d 394, 395 (Mo. App. 1990); Collins v. Nurre, 251 N.E.2d 621, 622 (Oh. App. 1969). Because the right to contest a will is statutory, courts require strict compliance with the statutory remedy of a will contest. Floyd, 105 So.3d at 105; Langham, 801 S.W.2d at 395; Willman v. Railing, 529 N.E.2d 122, 124 (Ind. App. 1988); Collins, 251 N.E.2d at 622.

This Court has also held that remedies created by statute require strict compliance in order to confer jurisdiction on the district court over the statutory remedy. In Washoe County v. Otto, this Court considered the effect of failure to comply strictly with requirements of a statutory remedy provided under the Nevada Administrative Procedure Act. 128 Nev. ____, 282 P.3d 719 (2012). The Court first noted that Nevada courts generally have no jurisdiction over acts of administrative agencies "except where the legislature has made some statutory provision for judicial review." Id. at 724 (quoting Crane v. Continental Telephone, 105 Nev. 399, 401, 775 P.2d 705, 706 (1989)). Thus, where the legislature has created a statutory right where none existed before the legislation, "strict compliance with the statutory requirements for such review is a precondition to jurisdiction by the court of judicial review" Id. at 725 (quoting Kame v. Employment Security Dep't, 105 Nev. 22, 25, 769 P.2d 66, 68 (1989)). Applying these principles, the Court held that even though the party

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

13

14

15

17

16

18

19

20

seeking judicial review had filed a petition seeking judicial review, the party's failure to name all parties in the petition, as required by the statute, caused the district court to lack jurisdiction to consider the petition. Id.

In the context of an after-probate will contest, courts across the country have held that a trial court has no jurisdiction to consider the will contest if the will contestant has failed to strictly comply with the will contest statutes. Kordon, 137 P.3d at 210 (holding that "failure to issue a citation deprives the court of personal jurisdiction over the party denied process"). As in Otto regarding the APA, and as in states across the country regarding after-probate will contests, the Nevada Legislature here has conferred a statutory right to a will contest where no right existed at common law. Because the Legislature has granted this special remedy by statute, a will contestant must strictly comply with the provisions of the statutes granting the right to an after-probate will contest. If a will contestant fails to comply strictly with the statutory right, the district court lacks jurisdiction to hear the will contest, and the will contest must be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

Accord Langham, 801 S.W.2d at 396; Willman, 529 N.E.2d at 124; Julia Rackley Perry Memorial Hosp. v. Peters, 401 N.E.2d 587, 589 (Ill. App. 1980); Collins, 251 N.E.2d at 622.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

The After-Probate Will Contest Statutes Unambiguously Require В. Both Filing a Petition and Issuing a Citation within Three Months of Entry of the Order Admitting a Will to Probate.

Having established that a will contestant must strictly comply with the requirements of NRS 137.080-.120 and that strict compliance is necessary to confer upon the district court jurisdiction to hear the will contest, this Court must now interpret NRS 137.080-.120 to determine what a will contestant must do to strictly comply with the after-probate will contest statutes. When conducting statutory analysis, the Court begins with an examination of the plain meaning of the statute. Clark County v. S. Nev. Health Dist., 128 Nev. ____, 289 P.3d 212, 215 (2012). "It is well-settled that: 'Where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous and its meaning clear and unmistakable, there is no room for construction, and the courts are not permitted to search for its meaning beyond the statute itself." Madera v. State Indus. Ins. System, 114 Nev. 253, 257, 956 P.2d 117, 120 (1998) (quoting Erwin v. State of Nevada, 111 Nev. 1535, 1538-39, 908 P.2d 1367, 1369 (1995)). "A statute is ambiguous if it is capable of being understood in two or more senses by reasonably well-informed persons." Blaine Equip. Co. v. State Purchasing Div., 122 Nev. 860, 866, 138 P.3d 820, 824 (2006) (quoting Thompson v. District Court, 100 Nev. 352, 354, 683 P.2d 17, 19 (1984)).

or phrases or make provisions nugatory." Clark County, 289 P.3d at 215 (citation

"Statutes should be read as a whole, so as not to render superfluous words

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

omitted). This Court "should interpret statutes to give meaning to each of their parts, such that, when read in context, none of the statutory language is rendered mere surplusage." Stockmeier v. Psychological Review Panel, 122 Nev. 534, 540, 135 P.3d 807, 810 (2006). Further, "this Court's interpretation should not produce an absurd or unreasonable result." Id.

Here, the provisions of NRS 137.080-.090 are clear and explicit and capable of being understood in only one sense. As such, the Court must give the statutes their plain effect. The plain interpretation of NRS 137.080 is not in dispute in this matter. All parties agree that the statute requires the filing of a petition containing the allegations of the contestant against the validity of the will within three months of entry of the order admitting the will to probate.

The next statute in the after-probate will contest statutes, NRS 137.090, provides,

> Upon filing the petition, and within the time allowed for filing the petition, a citation must be issued, ... directing [the designated interested parties] to plead to the contest within 30 days after service of the citation.

There is no ambiguity in this statute. After filing the petition set forth in NRS 137.080, a citation **must** be issued directed to the interested parties set forth in the statute. Importantly, the citation must be issued "within the time allowed for filing the petition," which is an unambiguous reference to the three month time

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

limit set forth in NRS 137.080. The only reasonable reading of this statute is that a citation must be issued within three months after entry of the order admitting the will to probate. Fink does not question the plain language of NRS 137.090. In fact, Fink admits that NRS 137.090 "require[s] the issuance of a citation 'within the time allowed for filing the petition." App. Op. Brief, p. 24, 1. 12-13 (quoting NRS) 137.090). As such, there is no dispute that the plain language of NRS 137.090 requires that a citation must be issued within three months of the entry of the order admitting the will to probate.

Fink's Interpretation of NRS 137.120 Violates the Plain Language of C. NRS 137.090 and Renders NRS 137.090 Superfluous and Mere Surplusage.

Fink's only argument concerns his strained reading of NRS 137.120. Fink argues that the only action required under NRS 137.120 in order to "contest[] the validity of a will or of the probate thereof" is to file the petition under NRS 137.080. App. Op. Brief, p. 24, 1. 17-19 and p. 26, 1. 9-15. Fink asserts that NRS 137.120 does not apply to NRS 137.090 and, therefore, there is no "particular punishment or remedy for the failure to [issue the citation]" App. Op. Brief, p. 24, 1. 15. Thus, while acknowledging that NRS 137.090 requires the issuance of the citation, Fink asserts that it has no purpose because it does not matter whether it is done.

Fink's interpretation of NRS 137.120 renders the portion of NRS 137.090

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

that states "within the time allowed for filing the petition" mere surplusage, having no effect or purpose as a time limit for the accomplishment of the act required by the statute. Rather than acting as a mandatory requirement, under Fink's interpretation, the command in NRS 137.090 that the citation "must be issued" would be merely permissive because failure to comply with it would carry no penalty. Thus, Fink takes out a red marker and crosses out the phrase "within the time allowed for filing the petition" within NRS 137.090, thus rendering this phrase mere surplusage and rendering NRS 137.090 superfluous to the statutory scheme.

Contrary to Fink's errant assertion, properly interpreted NRS 137.120 means that a will contestant must both file the petition under NRS 137.080 and issue the citation under NRS 137.090 in order to "contest[] the validity of a will or of the probate thereof." Further, NRS 137.120 reinforces that both acts must be performed "within the time specified in NRS 137.080". Giving NRS 137.080 and NRS 137.090 their plain meaning as described above, and reading the entire afterprobate will contest statutory scheme as a whole, this Court must determine that both the filing of the petition and the issuance of the citation within three months are mandatorily required in order to contest the validity of the will.

19

18

20

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

D. The Time Limit in NRS 137.090 is Mandatory because the Issuance of a Citation is Material to the Jurisdiction of the District Court.

This Court has made clear that "Must' is mandatory, as distinguished from the permissive 'may'." In re Nev. State Engineer Ruling No. 5823, 128 Nev. ____, 277 P.3d 449, 454 (2012); see also NRS 0.025 ("Must' expresses a requirement"); Otto, 282 P.3d at 725 ("The word 'must' generally imposes a mandatory requirement."). When the Legislature required that a citation "must be issued," the Legislature mandated that a citation must, not may, be issued. Not only has the Legislature prescribed the act that must be done (issuance of citation), but the Legislature also prescribed the time limit within which it must be done (within three months of the entry of the order admitting the will to probate). In doing so, the Legislature mandated that the act must, not may, be done within the prescribed time limit.

The mandatory nature of NRS 137.090 is further supported by this Court's interpretation of statutes that include time requirements. "This Court has long held that when a statutory time limit is material, it should be construed as mandatory unless the Legislature intended otherwise." Village League to Save Incline Assets, Inc., v. State ex rel. Board of Equalization, 124 Nev. 1079, 1086, 194 P.3d 1254, 1259 (2008). "It follows, then, that statutes creating time or manner restrictions are generally construed as mandatory." Id. at 1086-87, 194 P.3d at 1259.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

The purpose of a citation is material because it performs the function of granting the court personal jurisdiction over the parties to a will contest. In upholding a dismissal of a will contest for failure to timely issue a citation, the Supreme Court of Washington stated, "A citation is equivalent to a civil summons, conferring personal jurisdiction over a party to a will contest. Proper service of process 'is essential to invoke personal jurisdiction over a party." Kordon, 137 P.3d at 18 (quoting In re Marriage of Markowski, 749 P.2d 754 (Wash. App. 1988) (internal citation omitted)). "Accordingly," the court concluded, "failure to issue a citation deprives the court of personal jurisdiction over the party denied process." Id. Numerous other courts across the country have also held that the failure to issue a citation or to otherwise comply with the statutory summons or service requirement was fatal to the jurisdiction of the trial court even when the contestant had timely filed a petition or complaint. See In re Fiedler's Estate, 140 Mont. 22, 26-27, 367 P.2d 560, 562-63 (1962); Estate of Mitchell, 841 N.E.2d at 218-19; Langham, 801 S.W.2d at 396; Willman, 529 N.E.2d at 125; Collins, 251 N.E.2d at 623. Though each state's statutory requirements are slightly different, the unifying principle is that in order to confer jurisdiction on the trial court over an after-probate will contest, the contestant must both file a timely petition or complaint and comply with the citation, summons, or service requirement within the established timeframe. Thus, the

18

19

20

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

material purpose of the citation is to provide the court with personal jurisdiction over the parties, not simply to provide notice of the proceeding as Fink errantly asserts. App. Op. Brief, p. 29, 1. 7-8, and p. 37, 1. 10-13.

E. The Time Limit in NRS 137.090 is Mandatory because it is Material to the Legislative Intent to Settle Estates Quickly.

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